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INTRODUCTION


The purpose of this book is to write the military history of Nazi Germany from the latter part of 1944 until May 23, 1945—the period in which Hitler’s empire was finally and totally destroyed.


From June 6, 1944, until early September 1944, Hitler’s Wehrmacht was smashed on both the Eastern and Western Fronts. It nevertheless made a desperate last stand and checked the Anglo-American armies in a series of battles along the Siegfried Line while simultaneously administering a stinging defeat to the British Army at the Battle of Arnhem. At the same time, it almost miraculously created an entire new panzer army, which it unleashed in the Ardennes on December 16, 1944. It was Germany’s “last chance” offensive, and it gave the Americans, in particular, some very bad moments.


On the Eastern Front, the main focus was on Poland and Hungary. In August 1944, Romania defected from the Axis, and Germany lost most of its 6th and 8th Armies. Hungary was wavering and in September was invaded by the Soviet Union. Against seemingly overwhelming odds, Hitler’s generals desperately tried to prevent the collapse of their southern flank. That they succeeded was one of the minor miracles of the war. This is where our story begins.


Since 1960, there have arisen in the Western world what might be termed “social military historians.” They deal with war from a sociological (or in some cases pseudo-sociological) point of view without discussing battles and campaigns, which are dismissed with a wave of the hand, if they are mentioned at all. I believe war has its sociological and philosophical elements, but it also involves strategy, operations, and tactics, as well as logistics, training, the inclination of a people to wage war, and the warrior himself, be he general or private. In other words, this book will follow a more “nuts and bolts” approach in which strategy, battles, and campaigns are emphasized rather than sociological motivations.


I wish to thank all those who helped in the researching, writing, and producing of this book, especially my wife, Donna. Thanks also go to the archivists and other employees at the National Archives, Washington, D.C., the Bundesarchiv, the War College, the Center of Military History, and the Imperial War Museum, as well as the late Friedrich von Stauffenberg and anyone else who shared information, advice, photographs, or memoirs with me.
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CHAPTER I SETTING THE STAGE



The Nazis came to power on January 30, 1933. At that time, Germany lived under the restrictions imposed by the Treaty of Versailles, which ended World War I. Its military force (the Reichswehr or armed forces) was limited to 115,000 men—100,000 in the army (Reichsheer) and 15,000 in the navy (Reichsmarine)—which left Germany unable to defend itself or threaten its neighbors.


Adolf Hitler changed all that, and he had an excellent foundation upon which to build. The notoriously efficient General Staff was officially abolished in 1919, but its de facto replacement, the Truppenamt (Troop Office), secretly continued to train top-level General Staff officers. Germany also continued to maintain its Wehrkreise (sometimes spelled Wehrkreisen) or German military districts, which were the heart of the German Army.


Each Wehrkreis was a corps-level, territorial command responsible for recruiting, mobilization, supply, administration, logistical support, and all military-political and military-civilian matters within its area. After Hitler renounced the Treaty of Versailles, the Wehrkreise were responsible for implementing conscription for the German Army. When the war began in September 1939, they were placed under the Home Army (also known as the Replacement Army). Their field components were designated corps headquarters and sent to combat zones. Their territorial elements remained in Germany, where older officers, often extremely capable administrators, focused on keeping the badly outnumbered German Army well-trained and in the field for the duration of the war.


Initially, there were seven Wehrkreise. By 1939, there were fifteen, numbered I through XIII, and XVII and XVIII. The Wehrkreise and their headquarters are shown on Map 1.1. Later, Wehrkreise XX, XXI, and General Gouvernement were added in the occupied territories. They never approached the importance of the earlier (German) Wehrkreise.


In February 1938, Hitler set up the machinery for running his war. It consisted of the High Command of the Armed Forces (Oberkommando der Wehrmacht or OKW), the High Command of the Army (Oberkommando des Heeres or OKH), the High Command of the Luftwaffe (Oberkommando der Luftwaffe or OKL), and the High Command of the Navy (Oberkommando der Kriegsmarine or OKM). The military SS (Waffen-SS) was also important by 1944, but its combat divisions remained under the operational control of the army, and there was never an Oberkommando der Waffen-SS per se.
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Field Marshal Wilhelm Keitel, commander-in-chief of OKW, late 1941. Bundesarchiv Bild 183-H30220 CC BY-SA 3.0





OKW was headed by Colonel General (later Field Marshal) Wilhelm Keitel, whom Hitler once declared had the brains of a cinema usher.1 That was precisely what Hitler wanted: a mindless yes-man who would relay his orders to the forces without too much thought. Keitel initially tried to establish an actual high command, but OKL and OKM refused to cooperate with him, and Hitler (who practiced the political principle of “divide and rule”) was fine with that. By 1941, an unofficial dual command of the German ground forces had evolved. OKH directed the Eastern Front. OKW directed everything else.
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Map 1.1
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Hitler reviews marching infantry, Poland, 1939. Bundesarchiv Bild 183-S55480 CC BY-SA 3.0





The real military brains at OKW was its chief of operations, Colonel General Albert Jodl. He often suppressed his intelligence and knowledge, however, to remain “loyal” to the Fuehrer.2


The chief of OKH was Field Marshal Walther von Brauchitsch. He had made a deal with Hitler in 1938. Brauchitsch was allowed to quietly divorce his wife and marry his mistress. The wife was paid off with Nazi Party funds. In exchange, Brauchitsch accepted the new command structure with the Army High Command subordinate to OKW (that is, Hitler). As part of the bargain, he also forced nineteen senior generals into retirement and transferred other anti-Nazi or non–Nazi sympathizers to less important posts. In this manner, the Fuehrer basically gained control of the army. Needless to say, he did not have much respect for Brauchitsch. When the German offensive of 1941 stalled in front of Moscow, Hitler blamed Brauchitsch for it and sacked him on December 19, 1941. The Fuehrer then appointed himself head of OKH and commander-in-chief of the army. OKH was directed by the chief of General Staff, although Hitler interfered with its operations on a daily basis.3


OKL was directed by Hermann Goering, a former World War I flying ace and an early Nazi. He had some military talent but not much. By 1944, he was in deep disgrace for his mishandling of the Luftwaffe.


Grand Admiral Karl Doenitz was the commander-in-chief of the Navy (OKM). He experienced less interference than any of the other service heads. Hitler, a former corporal, was less inclined to interfere in naval matters about which he knew nothing. Doenitz was also a loyal Nazi supporter, so Hitler generally left him alone.


After rebuilding the German Wehrmacht (armed forces) and winning a series of bloodless victories, Adolf Hitler ignited World War II by invading Poland on September 1, 1939. At first, there were only victories. The Wehrmacht overran Poland, Denmark, Norway, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Belgium, France, Yugoslavia, Greece, Crete, and most of North Africa. Only over the skies of Great Britain were the Germans checked, and that was a close-run thing.


The war reached a turning point on June 22, 1941, when Germany invaded the Soviet Union. Although it won some spectacular victories, the Wehrmacht could not conquer Stalin’s empire. The German armies were severely damaged in the Soviet Winter Offensive of 1941–42 and suffered decisive defeats at Stalingrad (1942–43) and Kursk (1943). Meanwhile, the United Kingdom recovered and defeated the Afrika Korps in Egypt and Tunisia. The United States entered the war following the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941. The Western Allies destroyed two German armies in Tunisia (May 1943), defeated the German U-boats in the Battle of the Atlantic (May 1943), conquered Sicily (July 1943), and invaded Italy, knocking her out of the war (September 1943). By the spring of 1944, the Allies had defeated the Luftwaffe over the skies of France and Germany and were reducing the cities of the Third Reich to rubble. The stage was set for another decisive battle: the invasion of western Europe.


In late 1943, the war was going badly for Nazi Germany, but an unbiased observer could still come up with a plausible scenario in which the Third Reich could, if not win the war, at least survive it. This strategy was adopted de facto by the German High Command and by the German people simply because it was based on common sense. It would involve: 1) delaying the Red Army and avoiding defeat in the East; 2) obstructing the Anglo-Americans in Italy and holding them south of Rome; and 3) defeating the Allied D-Day invasion.


If Germany could repulse the British–American cross-Channel invasion, the Allies would not be able to mount another one for a year. This would free more than thirty divisions for employment in the East—including Germany’s entire armored strategic reserve in the West. These forces amounted to ten panzer and SS panzer divisions. With such a powerful command, Germany could conceivably force Stalin back to the negotiating table. He had already shown a willingness to negotiate behind the backs of his Anglo-American partners in 1943, but these talks broke down because Hitler had insisted upon territorial concessions. Stalin might have changed his mind in 1944 if the cross-Channel invasion had failed. It is even possible that Hitler might have mitigated his demands in 1944, though this is much less likely. In any case, German scientists would have been given another year to perfect Hitler’s “wonder weapons”: new and improved tanks, anti-tank weapons, U-boats, and jet airplanes. We know that the improved U-boats could have reopened the Battle of the Atlantic, and the jets—in sufficient numbers—would have fundamentally shifted the air war in Germany’s favor. It is even conceivable that German scientists might have invented a workable atomic bomb, though this too seems less likely. It is reasonably certain, however, that a few hundred jet fighters would have swept the Royal and U.S. Air Forces from the skies, and the new U-boats would likely have reimposed an economic blockade on the United Kingdom. At that point, anything would have been possible.


But Germany was able to do none of the three things mentioned above. Rome fell on June 4, 1944, and the Allies landed in Normandy on June 6. By mid-June, Anglo-Americans had a secure foothold in Europe and were reinforcing it at an incredible rate. The German mobile strategic reserve was committed to battle in Normandy, where it was being ground to bits. The German field commander, Field Marshal Erwin Rommel, was able to check the Anglo-Americans but not defeat them in the hedgerow country of Normandy. The “Desert Fox” begged Hitler for infantry divisions, but Hitler would only send him panzer and SS panzer divisions. By the time the Allies finally broke out of the hedgerow country at the end of July 1944, the German panzer divisions had lost more than 80 percent of their armor.
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On the left, Colonel Count Claus von Stauffenberg, would-be assassin of Adolf Hitler, looking at his target. This photo was taken on July 15, 1944, five days before the attempt. U.S. National Archives





Normandy was excellent terrain for infantry; most of the rest of France was exceptionally good terrain for armor. When the Allies broke out of Normandy, Hitler had little left with which to defend France but non-motorized infantry. These forces (called “marching infantry” by the Germans) were quickly swamped by the highly mobile British and American forces, especially those under the command of General Patton.


The war was going so badly for the Third Reich that a segment of the German Officer Corps, led by Colonel Count Claus von Stauffenberg, the chief of staff of the Replacement Army, launched a coup against the Nazi government on July 20, 1944.


Although Hitler was wounded in an assassination attempt, the plot failed, and Stauffenberg and several hundred others paid for the failure with their lives. Colonel General Friedrich Fromm, the commander-in-chief of the Home Army, was fired on July 21 and replaced by Reichsfuehrer-SS Heinrich Himmler, so the army came even more under the control of the Nazis, and Hitler’s already rampant paranoia grew by leaps and bounds. Fromm was eventually executed for cowardice.


Once Stalin was sure the panzer divisions were committed in the West, he launched Operation “Bagration,” a massive offensive in White Russia, on June 22. By the beginning of August, he had virtually destroyed the German Army Group Centre. The German Army was being pushed back on all active fronts with no prospect of reversing the situation. By this time, there was little hope for the Third Reich.


August 1944 was the month of victory for the Allied armies. The German Army Group B (5th Panzer and 7th Armies) was largely destroyed in the Falaise sector, and the British advance cut off the 15th Army in the coastal sectors of France and the Low Countries. The other German Armies in France (1st and 19th) were reduced to remnants by the Allied invasion of southern France. (The Headquarters, 1st Parachute Army, was also in the west, but it was nothing but a training command at this time.) The Allies seemed on the verge of crossing into Germany and seizing the Ruhr Industrial Area without which the Third Reich could not wage war. There was widespread talk among the Allies of ending the war by Christmas.


The Allies’ strategy of isolating the Normandy battlefield by destroying the French highway and rail networks was a good one; however, it proved to be a double-edged sword. The Allies were unable to supply all their divisions and maintain their momentum. Meanwhile, the German Army rallied. The Anglo-Americans were engaged in what they later called “pursuit thinking.” They were, however, facing an opponent who had a remarkable talent for staging swift recoveries. The German Landser (the companion in misfortune to the English Tommy and American G.I.) had not lost his will to resist and was on the fringe of his own territory, which further encouraged him to hold on.


Montgomery came up with a rather brilliant—but risky—plan to finish off the German Wehrmacht. Dubbed Operation “Market Garden,” it called for the Allies to lay down an airborne carpet and seize the bridge at Arnhem. It failed—mainly because luck was on the side of the Germans during the Battle of Arnhem. Market Garden depended upon the Germans’ reacting with average speed. The British did not know that Field Marshal Walter Model, the new commander-in-chief of Army Group B, had established his headquarters only two miles from the easternmost British drop zone. He reacted with lightning speed—far more quickly than the Allies anticipated—and wiped out the Allied airborne bridgehead at Arnhem.4


Because Model was a Nazi sympathizer, Western historians tend not to give him credit for the German victory at Arnhem. While it is true that Model almost certainly would have been hanged as a war criminal (and deservedly so) had he not committed suicide in 1945, he was primarily responsible for checking Montgomery at Arnhem and deserves credit for it.


While Montgomery and his generals were trying to “bounce the Rhine,” they failed to finish off the 15th Army. On September 4, 1944, when the British captured Antwerp, the 15th Army had only one escape route left—and it was unguarded and within fifteen miles of the spearheads of the British Guards Armoured Division. The British, however, were engaged in “pursuit thinking” and did not cut off the 15th Army or clear the Scheldt River when it was theirs for the taking. By the time they decided to turn their attention to the west three weeks later, it was too late.


Antwerp, located seventy miles up the Scheldt River, is one of the best ports in the world, and the British had captured it intact. Not even its giant cranes were destroyed. That port alone could supply all of Eisenhower’s divisions. Without control of the Scheldt, however, it was utterly useless—a fact that the German General Staff grasped several weeks before Eisenhower and Montgomery. In September, the Germans reinforced their positions along the Scheldt, and it would take the British and Canadians months to clear them.
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Walter Model, 1944. U.S. Army War College





Meanwhile, in early September 1944, Hitler had one of his flashes of military inspiration. He would check the Allies at the Siegfried Line, hold the Scheldt, and marshal his reserves for a major offensive through the Ardennes to Antwerp with the objective of destroying Montgomery’s armies and much of the U.S. 1st Army. Such a decisive blow might end the war in Germany’s favor.


In August 1944, as the Wehrmacht streamed back to the German border, the Home Army (Ersatzheer, also known as the Replacement Army) faced the task of reforming smashed divisions and creating new ones. They no longer had the manpower or equipment to create the standard Type 1939 units or even the Type 1944 Divisions, which were reduced in size, so they began turning out Volksgrenadier (People’s Infantry) divisions.


The 1939 infantry division consisted of three infantry regiments, a reconnaissance battalion (three companies), an artillery regiment (three medium artillery battalions of a dozen 105mm guns each), one heavy artillery battalion (of nine 150mm guns), and a motorized forward observer battalion (Beobachtungs-Abteilung), an anti-tank battalion (four companies), an engineer battalion (three companies and a bridging column), a signal battalion, a field replacement battalion, and assorted service support elements, including medical, ambulance, workshop, anti-aircraft, veterinary, military police, bakery, and other units. Each infantry regiment had three battalions, an infantry gun company, and an anti-tank (Panzerabwehr) company. In all, the standard authorized strength of an infantry division in 1939 was 17,734.


The Volksgrenadier division was much smaller. It included three grenadier regiments of two battalions each. The regiment also had an infantry gun company (equipped with a dozen 75mm guns) and a tank destroyer (Panzerzerstoerer) company, giving the division six infantry battalions, as opposed to the nine of most earlier infantry divisions. Its artillery regiment was also smaller. Most artillery regiments in Volksgrenadier divisions had two medium battalions instead of three, and each battalion had two gun batteries instead of three. (Both the Type 39 and Volksgrenadier battalions had a staff battery.) The Volksgrenadier unit also had a Fuesilier company instead of a reconnaissance battalion, and it was usually mounted on bicycles instead of trucks or armored reconnaissance vehicles. The anti-tank, signal, and other units were also smaller.


A Volksgrenadier division could theoretically be produced from scratch in three months, but this process was often speeded up, and a decent division could be put together in eight weeks. A battered and depleted veteran infantry division could be ready for action as a Volksgrenadier division in six weeks.
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A Sturmgewehr 44 with scope. Most StG 44s were not equipped with scopes. The AK47 used in the Vietnam War is a modified copy of the StG 44. Bundesarchiv Bild 146-1979-118-55/CC BY-SA 3.0





The people’s infantry divisions were well-equipped with automatic weapons, shoulder-fired anti-tank weapons, and mortars, but they lacked motorized vehicles, horses, and heavy equipment (including artillery, assault guns, and crew-served heavy machine guns). Almost all of them suffered from equipment deficiencies, many lacked trained personnel, and their effectiveness was mostly as defensive units.


The theoretical strength of a Volksgrenadier division was around 11,250 men, but most of them weighed in well short of this figure. Some of them were barely half that, even before they met the enemy.


To compensate for a lack of manpower, the Home Army relied on increasing the number of automatic weapons given to the troops. Each grenadier company contained three platoons—one equipped with Mauser rifles and two with machine pistols. The Maschinenpistole 44 (MP 44) was gas operated and fired a short 7.92 x 33mm “Kurz” cartridge. It was excellent close-up, but its maximum effective range was only 400 meters when in single-shot mode and only 150 meters at full automatic. It featured a curved, 30-round magazine.
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Volkssturm (Home Guard) soldiers equipped with Panzerfausten (disposable anti-tank weapons), Berlin, March 10, 1945. Bundesarchiv Bild 183-J31320/CC-BY-SA 3.0





Adolf Hitler initially opposed the serial production of this weapon because, he believed, it would lead to a wasteful expenditure of ammunition. Some major manufacturers produced them anyway. Hitler reportedly discovered this during an inspection tour that fall. He was so impressed by the weapon that he ignored the fact that the manufacturers had disobeyed his orders, and made only one alteration to the weapon—he changed its name to Sturmgewehr 44 (StG 44).


The trademark weapon of the Volksgrenadier and the entire Wehrmacht in late 1944 was the Panzerfaust. It was a shoulder-fired, single-shot, disposable anti-tank weapon. It weighed about eleven pounds and could penetrate any tank armor. Many new recruits and Home Guard (Volkssturm) troops were issued Panzerfaust as their only weapon. After they fired it, they were unarmed on a battlefield, which prompted some German generals to jokingly recommend using the disposable firing tube as a club.


Another relatively new, deadly weapon then in mass production and issued to both the new and veteran divisions was the Panzerschreck anti-tank gun. It was an enlarged copy of the American bazooka, and it fired a deadly 88mm rocket.
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Soldiers of the Grossdeutschland Panzer Grenadier Division prepare to fire a Panzerschreck, Eastern Front, May 1944. Bundesarchiv Bild 183-J27051/CC-BY-SA 3.0





From July to September 1944, the Home Army and its subordinate Wehrkreise (military districts) cranked out or were in the process of completing the formation of eighty-two Volksgrenadier divisions and one Volkssturm (People’s Storm) division.5 This was the equivalent of around ten armies.










CHAPTER II DEFEAT IN THE ARDENNES



On December 16, 1944, Hitler launched the Battle of the Bulge and caught the Western Allies—especially the Americans—flat-footed. The U.S. Army was staggered, but it was not the knock-out blow upon which Hitler was counting. By December 20, the veteran 2nd Panzer Division had, as usual, outdistanced every other unit and gone to the forefront of the German Army, just as it had during the Battle of Moscow three years before. After winning a vicious little battle at Noville, it had pushed on to the Ourthe River and seized a bridgehead at Ortheuville. Fuel shortages and troop exhaustion kept it stalled on December 21, but early on December 22 it started moving again, driving north toward Namur. Led by Colonel Meinrad von Lauchert, it continued heading for the Meuse, pressing through a seven-mile gap between the U.S. 84th Infantry Division at Marche to the north and the U.S. 335th Infantry Regiment at Rochefort to the south.1 General of Panzer Troops Baron Hasso von Manteuffel, the commander of the 5th Panzer Army, of which the division was a part, energetically did what he could to support his spearhead. He ordered Lieutenant General Fritz Bayerlein, the commander of the Panzer Lehr Division, to capture Rochefort in order to widen the gap, and commanded Major General Siegfried Waldenburg’s 116th Panzer Division to siege Marche for the same reason; meanwhile, the 2nd Panzer Reconnaissance Battalion of the 2nd Panzer Division pushed to within four miles of the Meuse River. There it ran into increasingly heavy resistance from the American armored cavalry, so Lauchert ordered a halt. Part of the division was at Foy-Notre Dame, and the rest was between Celles and Conjoux. More than 40 percent of the division would be killed within the next seventy-two hours.
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SS men advancing past abandoned U.S. equipment, Ardennes, December 18, 1944. U.S. National Archives





On December 23, Bayerlein attacked Rochefort but could not clear it until the following day. At the same time, Waldenburg’s division was stopped cold near Marche, and the leading elements of the 2nd Panzer were running into American armor at Foy-Notre Dame. General of Panzer Troops Baron Heinrich von Luettwitz asked Manteuffel to withdraw the division, but Manteuffel—knowing what Hitler’s reaction would be—refused.2 By the end of the day on December 24, the 2nd Panzer Division was increasingly isolated, practically out of gas, and in a situation even more serious than Lauchert realized.


At Havelange, just ten miles north of his division, lay Major General Ernest N. Harmon’s fresh U.S. 2nd Armored Division. Belgian civilians informed the aggressive American commander that the panzers were out of fuel. At 8:00 on Christmas morning, Combat Command B (CCB) of the U.S. 2nd Armored Division struck southwest to Celles, intent on destroying the German tank concentration at the western tip of the bulge. He was joined in this effort by the British 29th Armoured Brigade.3 At the same time, Combat Command A of the U.S. 2nd Armored Division drove southeast toward Rochefort to stop any further German units from advancing toward the Meuse and perhaps rescuing the 2nd Panzer Division.


The slaughter lasted three days. Second Panzer was pounded by colossal artillery concentrations and attacked repeatedly by rocket-firing British Typhoons and American fighter-bombers—not to mention American tanks. To the east, Panzer Lehr was unable to fight its way through Combat Command A and swarms of Typhoons and Jabos (as the Germans called Allied fighter-bombers), while the 116th Panzer Division suffered heavy losses in failed attempts to break through the U.S. 84th Infantry Division. Meanwhile, at Celles and Foy-Notre Dame, the 2nd Panzer Division was annihilated. The 304th Panzer Grenadier Regiment, the II/3rd Panzer Regiment, the 74th Panzer Artillery Regiment, and two-thirds of the 273rd Panzer Anti-Aircraft Battalion were wiped out. About 2,500 German soldiers were killed or wounded, and 1,200 more were captured. Some 82 tanks, 81 artillery pieces, and 450 trucks and other motorized vehicles were lost in the carnage. At the same time, less than two miles to the northeast, the British 29th Armoured Brigade and the U.S. 82nd Reconnaissance Battalion struck the 2nd Panzer Reconnaissance Battalion at Foy-Notre Dame. It was also destroyed. From the main body of the 2nd Panzer Division, only about 600 men, led by the indomitable Major Ernst von Cochenhausen, managed to break out of the pocket and eventually reach German lines—on foot.4 Not a single vehicle or tank escaped the American encirclement. Colonel von Lauchert did escape, but he no longer had a division to command.


After Celles, all roads led backward for the German Army in the West.


CLEARING THE BULGE


With the destruction of the 2nd Panzer Division, Hitler’s last great offensive in the west failed. The Fuehrer, as usual, refused to recognize this fact; he ordered that Bastogne be captured at all costs despite the fact that Lieutenant General George S. Patton Jr., the commander of the U.S. 3rd Army, had attacked from the south, pushed through the German 7th Army, established a corridor to the town on December 26, and reinforced it. On December 28, the 26th Volksgrenadier Division, the Fuehrer Begleit Brigade, and the 115th and 901st Panzer Grenadier Regiments attacked Bastogne. Before the day was out, the 1st SS Panzer Division, the 3rd Panzer Grenadier Division (just released from OKW Reserve), and the Fuehrer Grenadier Brigade began arriving in the Bastogne sector. Patton reinforced the garrison with the U.S. 6th Armored Division, and Eisenhower released the U.S. 87th Infantry and 11th Armored Divisions from Supreme Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF) reserve and committed them to the Battle of Bastogne.5 Before the siege was over, the 9th and 12th SS Panzer and the 340th and 167th Volksgrenadier Divisions also joined the fighting, but they could neither cut the corridor nor take the town.6


On December 30, the newly arrived U.S. 87th Infantry and 11th Armored joined the battle and ran straight into an attack by the veteran, but depleted and exhausted, Panzer Lehr and 26th Volksgrenadier west of Bastogne. At the same time, the 1st SS Panzer and 167th Volksgrenadier Divisions struck the U.S. 35th and 26th Infantry Divisions which were supported by elements of the U.S. 4th Armored. They were beaten back, thanks in large part to the efforts of the Allied fighter-bombers. Nazi Germany lost another fifty-five tanks that day plus hundreds of men it could no longer replace. The German divisions in the Bulge were now used-up formations without any hope of trained replacements—the 26th Volksgrenadier, for example, had lost about three-quarters of its authorized strength and numbered fewer than 2,000 combat effectives—and the Allies were coming after them.7 Eisenhower assigned the fresh and exceptionally well-trained U.S. 17th Airborne Division to Patton on December 25, and after being delayed by weather, it was able to reinforce the Bastogne Corridor by the end of the year.


Like a gambler who does not know when to quit, Hitler committed the last of General of Fighter Pilots Adolf Galland’s fighter reserve to the battle early on the morning of New Year’s Day, 1945. Flying at treetop level, all available units attacked Allied ground targets and airfields in the Netherlands, Belgium, and Luxembourg. The Germans destroyed or severely damaged 800 Allied airplanes (most of them on the ground) but lost 150 themselves, as well as some of the Luftwaffe’s best surviving pilots. With their vast reserves of air power, the Allies could absorb the blow, but Germany could not. “The Luftwaffe received its death blow in the Ardennes,” Galland said later.8
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U.S. General Eisenhower inspecting a destroyed Tiger II tank, 1944. U.S. Army





On January 3, 1945, the U.S. 1st Army launched a major offensive from the north into the bulge. The attack was spearheaded by Lieutenant General J. Lawton Collins’s U.S. VII Corps, which included four divisions (two of them armored)—100,000 men in all. SS Colonel General Sepp Dietrich’s 6th Panzer Army met the attack with Colonel Rudolf Langhaeuser’s 12th Volksgrenadier Division, Major General Rudolf Bader’s 560th Volksgrenadier Division, and SS Lieutenant General Heinz Lammerding’s 2nd SS Panzer Division: a formidable force—on paper.9 Actually, the 560th Volksgrenadier Division had only 2,500 men remaining, and the 2nd SS Panzer Division had only 6,000. All totaled, the forces facing Collins numbered fewer than 15,000 men.


The entire Ardennes sector was controlled by Field Marshal Walter Model’s Army Group B, which directed the 6th Panzer, 5th Panzer, and 7th Armies (north to south respectively). Since his attention was focused on Bastogne, this offensive took Model by surprise. The following day, Hitler ordered Dietrich reinforced, but the American advance was slowed as much by the terrain and the freezing cold weather as by the Germans, though they resisted fiercely. (The winter of 1944–45 was one of the coldest on record.) Baron Hasso von Manteuffel was ready to retreat, but the tough, profane, and hard-drinking Model would not hear of it. On January 2, 1945, he ordered SS General Hermann Preiss’s I SS Panzer Corps to attack Bastogne again on January 3, this time with the 9th SS Panzer Division, most of the 340th Volksgrenadier Division, and part of the 12th SS Panzer Division “Hitler Jugend.” SS Major General Sylvester Stadler, the commander of the 9th SS, however, refused to attack in daylight hours because of the Jabos. Model insisted. The result was a screaming contest. Remarkably enough, Stadler won. The field marshal stalked off in a rage, but the SS Gruppenfuehrer got his way. The officers present were amazed that Model did not relieve Stadler of his command on the spot.10


Preiss’s attack achieved little. On January 4, the Germans finally admitted defeat and went over to the defensive. To the north, the U.S. 18th Airborne Corps joined the offensive, and village after village fell to the Americans. On January 7, the critical Baraque-de-Fraiture crossroads (Parker’s Crossroads) was lost, and the German generals were acutely concerned that the U.S. 1st and 3rd Armies might soon link up and sever the bulge near its base, trapping much of the 5th and 6th Panzer Armies. Even Hitler recognized the danger. On January 8, he gave Model a rare authorization to withdraw. The next day, the Fuehrer tacitly admitted defeat by ordering Dietrich’s 6th Panzer Army out of the Ardennes. He also issued an order to withdraw the General of Waffen-SS Willi Bittrich’s 2nd SS Panzer Corps (including the 1st SS, 2nd SS, 9th SS, and 12th SS Panzer Divisions plus the two Fuehrer brigades and two Werfer [rocket launcher] brigades) to the rear of Army Group G for rehabilitation.


Hitler was not the only one to recognize that the German armies in the Ardennes were defeated; George S. Patton realized it too. On January 9, he struck the 5th Panzer Army with a massive offensive, employing all eight of his available divisions in the attack. Again, German resistance was determined, and American progress was slow. A gain of two miles a day was considered a good advance. But the German soldiers were no longer fighting for victory or for a cause they believed in; they were fighting desperately just to keep their escape routes open.


Hasso von Manteuffel and Sepp Dietrich extricated their forces as rapidly as they could but not as quickly as they would have liked. The lack of fuel, the Jabos, and the constant rearguard actions delayed them considerably. They nevertheless managed to get almost all their formations out of the trap before General Courtney Hodges’s First Army and General Patton’s Third Army linked up at Houffalize on January 16. Map 2.1 shows this battle.


By this time, the German officers were facing a heretofore almost unheard of difficulty: low troop morale. It had occasionally surfaced in green, hastily formed units, but now it was affecting the veteran divisions as well. Physical and mental exhaustion set in. To make matters worse, OKW had to reduce their rations. Because most units needed every man, home leaves were cut, causing further drops in morale. Mail services were thoroughly disrupted, and the lack of news from home caused consequential mental anguish. When letters did arrive, the news they contained was usually bad. Leaves to East Prussia and some of the other frontier provinces were no longer allowed—they were in the combat zone. Those who got leaves often wished they had not. They spent much of their time searching for their families and relatives who were evacuated from bombed-out cities. Many men had the heartbreaking experience of returning home only to find their neighborhoods reduced to fields of ruin and their homes destroyed. Others, unable to find their loved ones, spent their furloughs in the local barracks. “By now,” John Eisenhower wrote, the German troops were tired from long commitments without breaks. Replacements were of low quality and lacked training; forces were poorly supplied, and rations were being cut. The news from the Eastern Front and home had reached them. The American forces were far superior on the ground, and every clear day Allied planes were supreme in the skies. After the high hopes at the beginning of the offensive, failure now stared every soldier in the face.”11
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Map 2.1





Not even the SS divisions fought with their previous elan. The 12th SS Panzer Division “Hitler Youth” is a good example. Arguably, no division on either side fought as well as it did during the Normandy campaign, but it was smashed in the process. The replacements it received were mainly former Luftwaffe ground crewmen and excess naval personnel—and all too few of the young volunteers who had been its trademark a year before. The 12th SS Panzer was no longer an elite unit; it had suffered too many casualties and accepted too many inferior replacements. In the Battle of the Bulge, 9,870 of its men were captured, including 328 officers and 1,698 NCOs.12 Such a statistic would have been unheard of even six months before.


On January 14, Hitler announced his decision to transfer Dietrich’s 6th Panzer Army from the Western Front to the East; he was planning yet another offensive, this one in Hungary. The following day, he gave Field Marshal Gerd von Rundstedt, the western commander-in-chief (OB West), permission to withdraw the German forces in the Ardennes salient back as far east as Cherain (seven miles northeast of Houffalize).13 It was January 22, however, before the 6th Panzer Army could completely extricate itself from the Ardennes; it handed over its few units remaining in the bulge to Manteuffel. The next day, Sunday, January 23, the U.S. 7th Armored Division retook St. Vith. Only three houses in the town were still inhabitable. The Battle of the Bulge was over.


During the Ardennes Offensive, the American forces suffered 80,987 casualties, including 10,276 killed, 47,493 wounded, and 23,218 missing.14 German losses are not known so precisely. German sources place their casualties at more than 76,000 men as a minimum figure. Most Western sources generally estimate German casualties at 103,000.15 They also lost 600 tanks and assault guns. The American victory in the Ardennes Offensive was not tactically decisive (when the battle ended, both sides were back roughly where they started), but psychologically, it was. As General von Manteuffel pointed out, “For a while, the spirit of duty, self-sacrifice, and comradeship made it possible to carry on, but then the will to resist finally collapsed. Helplessly, the man at the front was forced to recognize that the superiority of the enemy on land, in the air, and at sea was now so great that there was no longer any chance whatever of putting up a successful resistance.”16





As the Allies approached the borders of the Reich, the Home Army also churned out new panzer divisions. In terms of size, they did not resemble the original panzer divisions of 1935.


When Germany invaded Poland on September 1, 1939, the German Army had seven panzer divisions: the 1st Panzer (309 tanks); the 2nd Panzer (322 tanks); the 3rd Panzer (391 tanks); the 4th Panzer (341 tanks); the 5th Panzer (335 tanks); the 10th Panzer (150 tanks); and the ad hoc Panzer Division Kempf (164 tanks).17 Except for Panzer Division Kempf, they had an authorized strength of more than 17,000 men. From that point, they were steadily downgraded in strength, to produce more tank and motorized infantry divisions.18 By 1944, the Type 44 had an authorized strength of fewer than 12,000 men and 168 tanks. Most of them had about half that many or fewer.


After the Battle of the Bulge, the Replacement Army created the Type 45 panzer division. It had three regiments: a panzer regiment, a panzer grenadier regiment, and a panzer artillery regiment. The tank regiment consisted of a staff and staff company, a panzer battalion, and a panzer grenadier battalion. It had an authorized strength of fifty-four tanks—a far cry from the force that so confidently overran Poland and western Europe in 1939 and 1940. Some of the divisions did not even have that.


These new divisions also had fewer than half the mobile infantrymen as their predecessors. Their tanks, especially the Panthers (Panzerkampfwagen V or PzKw V) and Tigers (Panzerkampfwagen VI or PzKw VI) were considerably better than the 1939 tanks; on the other hand, the enemy’s tanks were also much improved, although they were generally inferior to both the Panther and Tiger.19










CHAPTER III OPERATION NORTHWIND AND THE BATTLE OF THE COLMAR POCKET



As strange as it may seem, the Battle of the Bulge only whetted Hitler’s appetite for further attacks. The Americans, he told his generals, had been “forced to withdraw something like 50 percent of the forces” from their other sectors to save their divisions in the Ardennes; therefore, he declared, their line in Alsace must be “extraordinarily thin” and there “we shall find a situation which we could not wish to be better.”1 Near the end of December 1944, he ordered an entire new offensive to be made ready in the south. Its objectives would be to capture the Saverne Gap, cut the U.S. 7th Army in two, and destroy half of it in the Strasbourg-Bitche-Lauterbourg triangle.


The Allies were, in fact, vulnerable in Alsace, but Hitler picked the wrong man to command the offensive when he named Reichsfuehrer-SS Heinrich Himmler commander-in-chief of the newly created OB Upper Rhine (Oberbefehlshaber Oberrheim, also called Army Group Upper Rhine).2


Why was Himmler appointed to the army group command? Heinz Guderian and SS Colonel General Paul Hausser said that Martin Bormann (Hitler’s secretary and the chief of the Nazi Party) arranged Himmler’s appointment in order to ruin him (or more accurately, to help him ruin himself). Others thought Hitler was letting his generals know that he could get along without them. Both are probably right. To Himmler, on the other hand, it represented the achievement of one of his military ambitions, and he had been lobbying Hitler for such an appointment for months. On December 10, the Fuehrer gave it to him.
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Reichsfuehrer Heinrich Himmler, commander-in-chief of OB Upper Rhine. Himmler directed the Strasbourg Offensive. Bundesarchiv Bild 183-S72707/CC-BY-SA 3.0





As soon as he took up his position, Himmler began organizing two new corps in his sector: the XIV SS and the XVIII SS. They were led respectively by the “heroes” of the Warsaw Uprising, Police General Erich von dem Bach-Zelewski and Police Lieutenant General Heinz-Friedrich Reinefarth.3 It included frontier guards, battalions of Eastern and German workers, Volkssturm, police, and other miscellaneous units. The only unit in OB Oberrhein with any muscle, however, was the 19th Army.


The 19th was well led by General of Infantry Friedrich Wiese, who exhibited considerable skill in extracting it from the south of France in August and September 1944.4 After his army lost the Bedfort Gap and Strasbourg to the Anglo-French forces in November, Wiese fell back a short distance to positions along the Rhine River where his forces linked up with Hans von Obstfelder’s 1st Army to the north. From north to south, Wiese deployed Lieutenant General Hellmuth Thumm’s LXIV Corps (two static infantry divisions and two assault gun brigades), Lieutenant General Werner von Erdmannsdorff’s LXXXX Corps (two infantry divisions) and Lieutenant General Erich Abraham’s LXIII Corps (106th Panzer Brigade “Feldherrnhalle” and five infantry divisions).5 All of these units were badly understrength, and many of the infantry divisions had only two infantry regiments. In addition, they were short on artillery, ammunition, and equipment of every kind. Even so, Heinrich Himmler was soon looking for an excuse to assume the offensive. There was, after all, no glory in holding a quiet sector with a ragtag collection of units.


Himmler’s murderous tendencies disguised that he was basically a colorless technocrat with little military training and no combat experience. He joined the Imperial Army in 1918 (at the age of eighteen) but never rose beyond the rank of Fahnenjunker (officer-cadet) and could not abide the sight of blood. As a commander-in-chief, he set up his headquarters near the former tourist resort of Triberg in the Black Forest, where he kept his special train near a railroad tunnel in case of air raids. Here he held dinners as if he were on peacetime maneuvers and bothered Wiese and his corps and divisional commanders with trifles.6 According to Rundstedt’s chief of staff, General Westphal, Himmler issued “a deluge of absolutely puerile orders.” He was “hag-ridden by a pathological distrust” and never hesitated to saddle army officers with the blame for his own impractical schemes.


Among the officers sacked by Himmler was Friedrich Wiese, who was relieved of his command on December 15, 1944, and never reemployed.7 Wiese was replaced by Siegfried Rasp, an officer who had been promoted to general of infantry only two weeks before. Rasp was a surprise choice. He was known to have a drinking problem and had never commanded a corps—much less an army—but he led the 3rd Mountain Division, the 335th Infantry Division, and elite 78th Assault Division on the Eastern Front with considerable success, sober or not. A surprise choice is not necessarily a bad one, as Rasp was to prove in the weeks ahead.8


Wiese’s capable chief of staff, Walter Botsch, was also transferred to “Fuehrer Reserve” (that is, was without an assignment) on January 1, 1945, despite the fact that he had been promoted to lieutenant general only four months before. Botsch had been chief of staff of the army since it was created and no one knew more about the strengths and limitations of the 19th than did he; yet, he was relieved the very day a major offensive began—not exactly a recommended procedure for a successful army group commander.9


General Westphal also charged that Himmler was wasteful of the supplies sent to him and was in any case receiving greater quantities than were allotted to other sections of the front because, otherwise, it was feared he would ring up Hitler and have all munitions trains diverted to his sector. “Yet he fired off every shell that was sent to him and then simply asked for more.… It is almost superfluous to mention that Himmler never visited the front himself, but issued his orders from the safety of the rear.”10
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General of Infantry Friedrich Wiese from a Nazi era postcard. Library of Congress





Himmler’s chief of staff, SS Major General Werner Ostendorff, an East Prussian who served in the Reichsheer and the Luftwaffe before joining the Waffen-SS in 1935, partially made up for the deficiencies of his commander-in-chief.11


Himmler got his chance to launch his offensive during the latter stages of the Battle of the Bulge when Field Marshal von Rundstedt tried to obtain Hitler’s permission to launch a diversionary attack south toward the Moder, using the 10th SS Panzer Division.


The Reichsfuehrer-SS seized upon this request to persuade the Fuehrer to expand the diversion into a major offensive against the 1st French Army, aimed at recapturing Strasbourg and Alsace. It was code-named Operation Nordwind (Northwind) and was under the general command of Himmler himself.


The northern wing of the attack—against the right flank of the U.S. 7th Army—came under the direction of General of Infantry Hans von Obstfelder’s 1st Army, which was part of Colonel General Johannes Blaskowitz’s Army Group G. Table 3.1 shows the Order of Battle of the German forces involved in Operation Northwind.


The operation was indeed a rushed affair; in fact, due to the sorry state of the heavily bombed German transportation system, three of the main divisions earmarked for the attack—the 10th SS Panzer, 6th SS Mountain, and 7th Parachute—had not arrived when the offensive began.
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SS General Werner Ostendorff, chief of staff of OB Upper Rhine and former commander of the 17th SS Panzer Grenadier Division. Ostendorff was one of the more capable SS generals. Bundesarchiv Bild 101III-Zschaeckel-149-16/Zschaeckel, Friedrich/CC-BY-SA 3.0





Operation Northwind began on New Year’s Eve night when Blaskowitz attacked the U.S. 7th Army’s 79th Infantry, 12th Armored, and 36th Infantry Divisions with the 36th Volksgrenadier, 47th Volksgrenadier, 1st Parachute, 21st Panzer, 25th Panzer Grenadier, and 17th SS Panzer Grenadier Divisions.12 SS Colonel Hans Lingner’s 17th SS Division, which spearheaded the attack, was specially reinforced with the 653rd Heavy Panzerjaeger (Anti-Tank) Battalion, which was equipped with twenty Jadgtigern and two companies of special flame-throwing assault guns. The Jadgtiger was armed with very heavy 128mm main battle guns mounted on a Panther chassis and was perhaps the best anti-tank assault weapon produced in the Second World War. Unfortunately for Nazi Germany, it was only just now going into series production and only 400 were ever manufactured. They operated very effectively in Operation Northwind, however, and the Germans were soon pushing the Americans back through the Haguenau Forest in the direction of the Moder River. Several American units were overrun, and the U.S. 70th Infantry Division suffered especially heavy losses. We “feasted on captured U.S. rations, resupplying our losses in clothing and taking American rifles to supplement our weapons,” one SS man recalled. “We were astonished to see how well American soldiers lived.”13




Order of Battle of the German Forces Involved in Operation Northwind



	Army Group G: Colonel General Johannes Blaskowitz







	1st Army: General of Infantry Hans Obstfelder







	LXXXIX Corps:







	 


	
256th Volksgrenadier Division

245th Infantry Division

361st Volksgrenadier Division








	LXXXX Corps:


	 







	 


	257th Volksgrenadier Division







	XIII SS Corps:


	 







	 


	
19th Volksgrenadier Division

347th Infantry Division








	 







	LXXXII Corps:


	 







	 


	416th Infantry Division







	XXXIX Panzer Corps:


	 







	 


	
526th Reserve Division

559th Volksgrenadier Division

17th SS Panzer Grenadier Division

25th Panzer Grenadier Division

21st Panzer Division








	 







	 







	 







	 







	Army Group Reserve:


	 







	 


	
10th SS Panzer Division (in transit from Bonn)

6th SS Mountain Division (in transit from Denmark)

7th Parachute Division (in transit from Denmark)








	 







	 







	Army Group Upper Rhine: Reichsfuehrer-SS Heinrich Himmler







	19th Army: General of Infantry Siegfried Rasp







	LXIII Corps:


	 







	 


	
338th Infantry Division

159th Infantry Division

269th Infantry Division








	 







	 







	LXIV Corps:


	 







	 


	
16th Volksgrenadier Division

106th Panzer Brigade

189th Infantry Division

716th Infantry Division

708th Volksgrenadier Division

198th Infantry Division








	 







	 







	 







	 







	XIV SS Corps:


	 







	 


	no divisions attached







	XVIII SS Corps:


	 







	 


	405th Replacement Division







	Army Group Reserve:


	 







	 


	553rd Volksgrenadier Division







	SOURCES: Tessin, Volumes 2, 5, and 14.








Table 3.1


U.S. Lieutenant General Jacob L. Devers, the commander of the Allied 6th Army Group, was a good commander, and his troops were not taken by surprise. Unlike in the Ardennes, the American retreat was an orderly one. Devers nevertheless considered Strasbourg as good as lost, and on the afternoon of January 1, 1945, he telephoned Eisenhower to ask permission to fall back to the eastern slopes of the Vosges Mountains and to the Belfort Gap, abandoning the plain of Alsace. Eisenhower approved but General Charles de Gaulle, who was now premier of France, strongly objected and ordered General Jean de Lattre de Tassigny, the commander of the French 1st Army, to defend Strasbourg to the utmost even if the Americans withdrew toward the Vosges.14 He did not intend to risk subjecting the 150,000 inhabitants of Strasbourg to Nazi reprisals.


General de Lattre also had no intention of abandoning Strasbourg. During the night of January 2/3, he reinforced the city with the 3rd Algerian Division, a solid unit under the command of General Augustin-Leon Guillaume.15 The following night, Eisenhower yielded to political considerations and instructed Devers not to fall back beyond the Moder. The U.S. VI Corps was digging in at the Haguenau Forest north of this river on January 5 when Rasp’s 19th Army suddenly went over to the offensive to the southeast. General Thumm’s LXIV Corps attacked across the Rhine at the junction of the American and French armies, and the 553rd Volksgrenadier Division soon had a sizable bridgehead over the Rhine at Gambsheim, north of Strasbourg. Meanwhile, Abraham’s LXIII Corps, spearheaded by the 198th Infantry Division and the 106th Panzer Brigade “Feldherrnhalle,” attacked the 1st French Army south of Strasbourg and pushed the 1st Free French Division northward between the Ill River and the Rhone-Rhine Canal in the direction of the city.


The situation became critical for the 1st French Army as the 553rd Volksgrenadier captured the village of Killstett (twenty miles north of Strasbourg), while the “Feldherrnhalle” and the 198th Infantry attacked out of the northern edge of the Colmar perimeter and drove as far as the Erstein Heights (less than thirteen miles south of Strasbourg), and Erdmannsdorff’s LXXXX Corps threatened to take the city by frontal assault. During a blizzard on January 4, the 17th SS struck at the junction of the U.S. 44th and 100th Infantry Divisions, using captured Sherman tanks at the point of their assault. They captured the village of Gros Rederching before the Americans rallied and contained the assault. Fortunately for the Allies, the U.S. VI Corps was able to hold most of its positions north of the Moder, while Himmler wasted the strength of his divisions in a series of uncoordinated, piecemeal attacks.


To the north, Blaskowitz’s Army Group G fared little better. Despite continuing his attack for days, he was unable to break the American line north of the Moser. SS Colonel Lingner, the commander of the 17th SS Panzer Grenadier, was captured by the U.S. 44th Infantry Division on January 9. He was replaced by SS Colonel Fritz Klingenberg.


On January 13, Blaskowitz tried again. The 10th SS Panzer, 25th Panzer Grenadier, and 7th Parachute Divisions struck the newly arrived U.S. 12th Armored Division in the Hagenau sector, while Himmler struck out of the Gambsheim bridgehead with the 553rd Volksgrenadier and 21st Panzer Divisions. (The corrupt and incompetent Lieutenant General Edgar Feuchtinger, who had commanded the 21st Panzer since the summer of 1943, was at last arrested for dereliction of duty in late December 1944 and replaced by Major General Werner Marcks, a brutal Nazi.) Despite repeated Jabo strikes, the Germans were able to knock out seventy American tanks in a single day and virtually wiped out the U.S. 43rd Tank Battalion. Devers, commander of the Allied 6th Army Group, and Lieutenant General Sandy Patch, the commander of the U.S. 7th Army, fell back to the Moser on January 21 and reinforced their sagging front with three fresh American infantry divisions. Here they made their last stand and brought the German offensive to a halt. Blaskowitz continued to attack until January 25 but was not able to break the American line. Meanwhile to the south, Himmler pushed to within eight miles of Strasbourg but failed to dislodge the French 1st Army, which tenaciously defended the capital of Alsace. For the Wehrmacht, Operation Northwind was an expensive failure, and Hellmuth Thumm, the commander of the LXIV Corps, was made the scapegoat. He was relieved of his command on January 20 (less than three weeks after he had been promoted to general of infantry) and never reemployed.16


Himmler was not long for the Western Front. On January 21, despite his failure in the West, he was promoted to commander-in-chief of Army Group Vistula on the Eastern Front, where his task was defending Berlin from the Russians. He was replaced as commander-in-chief of Army Group Upper Rhine by SS Colonel General Paul Hausser, who had just recovered from the wounds he suffered in Normandy. The next day, however, Army Group Oberrheim was dissolved, and its units were absorbed by Army Group G, which was now also commanded by Hausser. Its former commander-in-chief, Colonel General Blaskowitz, was on his way to Holland to replace Colonel General Kurt Student (an officer in whom the Fuehrer had little confidence) as commander-in-chief of Army Group H, which was activated on November 11, 1944.


Under Hitler, it seemed at times as if the Wehrmacht was playing a game called “musical commanders.” The dance would get even faster in the next four months.


THE BATTLE OF THE COLMAR POCKET


Insofar as possible, General Eisenhower wanted to eliminate all German strongpoints west of the Rhine before crossing that river in strength. The largest position was the German 19th Army’s zone south of Strasbourg, in the area known as the Colmar Pocket. Eisenhower reinforced the French 1st Army with two of his best American divisions, as well as the fresh but inexperienced 12th Armored Division. De Gaulle also reinforced de Lattre with the French 2nd Armored Division under General Philippe Leclerc.17 This gave de Lattre a strength of twelve divisions, four of which were armored. General Rasp faced them with seven infantry divisions (none of which had 7,000 men) and the depleted 106th Panzer Brigade, which had only four companies of tanks at its maximum strength. Unlike Himmler, Rasp suffered a severe supply shortage, and as of the eighth day of the battle, he was strictly limiting his artillery gunners to fifteen 105mm shells per day per gun, while his heavy batteries were limited to a dozen 150mm shells per gun per day. On the other side of the line, de Lattre protested when he was limited to 120 105mm shells and 90 155mm shells per gun per day.


For the main attack, de Lattre concentrated four divisions along a fourteen-mile front between Thann and the Nuenenbruck Forest on the southern side of the pocket. His advance began at 7:00 a.m. on January 20, but the drive progressed slowly because of tough German resistance, well-positioned minefields, and snowstorms that eliminated Allied air support and limited the visibility of artillery battalion forward observers.


Despite continued snowstorms on January 21 and 22, the French attack made progress. General of Infantry Erich Abraham launched a counterattack with his LXIII Corps on January 22, and in the muddy terrain the German Panther tanks and newly manufactured Jadgpanther and Nashorn tank destroyers outmaneuvered the French Shermans and M-10 tank destroyers because the German armor had wider tracks. In addition, the German PzKv Vs (Panthers) and tank destroyers were equipped with long range 88mm guns, which blew apart the American-made Shermans before they could even get within range of the Panthers. (See Appendix 4 for the characteristics of selected German and Allied tanks.) Emil Bethouart’s I French Corps suffered severe casualties and, on January 22, Bethouart wanted to call off the offensive. Lattre ordered him to continue the attack.18 The next day he threw General de Monsabert’s II French Corps (U.S. 3rd Infantry and 1st Free French Divisions) into the battle on the northern face of the pocket. The Anglo-French offensive gained ground at first, but Lieutenant General Max Grimmeiss counterattacked with his LXIV Corps reserves and prevented de Monsabert from outflanking Colmar to the north.


As the Allies slugged their way forward through the snow, their overwhelming numerical superiority finally began to tell. Hitler, however, would not authorize a general withdrawal, so the battle continued in the increasingly constricted pocket. Meanwhile, at de Lattre’s request, Devers sent him the U.S. XXI Corps and the fresh U.S. 75th Infantry Division.
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Siegfried Rasp. Wikimedia Commons





On January 30, the Allies fired 16,438 105mm and 155mm shells in support of the U.S. 3rd Infantry, which managed to cross the Colmar Canal. The U.S. 28th Infantry then pushed into the suburbs of Colmar, where Major General Norman D. Cota halted and diplomatically gave the honor of liberating the city to elements of the French 5th Armored. The U.S. 1st Armored Division was then thrown into the pursuit and, on February 5, linked up with the French I Corps at Rouffach and Sainte Croix-en-Plaine. Several thousand Germans—more victims of Hitler’s “hold at all costs” orders—were thus encircled in the western half of the Colmar Pocket.


After the latest disaster, General Rasp was at last given permission to fight a delaying action across the Rhine. At 8:00 a.m. on February 9, his engineers blew up the Rhine River bridge at Chalampe, on the Mulhouse-Freiburg road, leaving behind only a few rearguards, trapped in the la Hardt Forest. These were mopped up the following day. The Battle of the Colmar Pocket was over. It had lasted twenty days. General Rasp inflicted 20,505 casualties on the 420,000 Franco-Americans engaged in the battle. In the process, he lost 22,010 men (mostly prisoners), 80 guns, and 70 tanks, assault guns, and tank destroyers, but he succeeded in escaping across the Rhine with roughly 50,000 men, 7,000 motorized vehicles, 1,500 guns, and 60 armored vehicles. The fact that the 19th Army still existed as an effective combat force is a testimony to the outstanding generalship of Siegfried Rasp. Hitler, of course, did not see things that way, and another scapegoat was needed to explain away his latest defeat. Rasp was relieved of his command on February 15 and replaced by General of Infantry Hermann Foertsch.19 Germany had lost another excellent commander.










CHAPTER IV THE BATTLE FOR HUNGARY



With some brief exceptions, the German armies in the East had been in retreat since the original 6th Army was destroyed in Stalingrad in February 1943. On August 20, 1944, Romania defected from the Axis, and the Red Army launched a massive offensive against the German Army Group South Ukraine, pouring through gaps left by the 3rd and 4th Romanian Armies. As a result, the reconstituted German 6th Army and much of the German 8th Army were trapped in two huge pockets on the Prut River. By August 29, the pockets had been cleared, and 180,000 Germans had been captured. Constanta, the Romanian Black Sea port, fell that same day, Ploesti and its vital oil fields were lost on August 30, and Bucharest fell the next day, as the remnants of the German Army fell back into Hungary. The Sixth Army had only two intact divisions left.


Colonel General Johannes Friessner, the commander-in-chief of Army Group South Ukraine, was given a respite of several weeks as the Soviet armies overran Bulgaria, and Tito’s Communist guerillas captured most of, and the Soviet Union invaded part of, Yugoslavia. Sofia fell on September 16, and Belgrade was taken on October 20. Meanwhile, Army Group South Ukraine was redesignated Army Group South on September 23 and was reinforced with a few new formations, including the 23rd and 24th Panzer Divisions, the mediocre 4th SS Panzer Grenadier Division “Police,” and the Headquarters, LVII Panzer Corps under General of Panzer Troops Friedrich Kirchner. By the end of the month, General of Infantry Otto Woehler’s 8th Army had three German and three Hungarian divisions, while General of Artillery Maximilian Fretter-Pico’s 6th Army had four German and six Hungarian divisions.



[image: Image]

A Panther transmission is repaired behind the Eastern Front. Bundesarchiv Bild 101I-280-10965-33/Jacob/CC-BY-SA 3.0





On October 6, the Soviets launched a massive offensive against Army Group South. They planned a giant envelopment, aimed at encircling and destroying the army group and Armeegruppe Heinrici (1st Panzer and 1st Hungarian Armies) on its left flank. (An armeegruppe was a temporary formation, as opposed an army group [Heeresgruppe], which was a permanent headquarters.) The attacking forces included Rodion Malinovsky’s 2nd Ukrainian and General Ivan E. Petrov’s 4th Ukrainian Fronts, which were coordinated by Marshal Semen Konstantinovich Timoshenko. Malinovsky alone had 6 Soviet rifle armies, a tank army, and 2 Romanian armies: 42 Russian rifle divisions, 22 Romanian divisions, 500 tanks and 1,100 airplanes.1


Although the Germans were badly outnumbered, the Soviet plan was far too ambitious for its logistical abilities. Because of the differences in gauges, the Romanian railroads were of little use to the Soviets, and everything had to be brought up by truck from west of the Dnestr River. The overextended Soviet supply lines simply were not able to properly supply an offensive of this scale. On the first day of the offensive, the 4th Ukrainian Front on the Soviet right routed the 3rd Hungarian Army. After that, however, Petrov had to deal with Germans. Performing with his usual brilliance, Colonel General Gotthard Heinrici took maximum advantage of the excellent defensive possibilities in the Carpathians and quickly checked the 4th Ukrainian Front in the mountains. Friessner, however, had less suitable defensive terrain and less reliable troops; he was soon in serious trouble. On his left, the Russian 53rd Army and General Issa Pliev’s Mechanized Cavalry Group broke through the 3rd Hungarian Army and gained fifty miles in three days. Fortunately for him, Major General Josef von Radowitz’s 23rd Panzer Division put up a magnificent defense at Oradea, on the northern shoulder of the 3rd Hungarian, and stopped the entire 6th Guards Tank Army cold, forcing the Pliev Group to come back to assist it. Even so, Friessner realized that his front could not hold indefinitely and, on October 8, warned Colonel General Heinz Guderian, the chief of the Army General Staff, that it would take Woehler’s 8th Army six days to withdraw behind the Theiss River. Hitler, however, would not allow a timely retreat. When Radowitz finally lost Oradea on October 12, most of the 76th Infantry Division was cut off and destroyed. In the meantime, Friessner decided that he could wait no longer and, on October 12, ordered a retreat. Cluj was abandoned, and much of the army group fell back toward the Theiss. Malinovsky was slowed by supply problems but, on October 17, launched an attack aimed at cutting off the retreat of the German 8th and Hungarian 1st and 2nd Armies east of the Theiss. The Germans made their stand at Debrecen, the third largest city in Hungary, which did not fall until October 20. Then the Pliev Group, which included the 1st Tank and 2nd Guards Cavalry Corps, knifed into the rear of the 8th Army and captured Nyiregyhaza on October 22, cutting Woehler’s main line of retreat. This time, however, Friessner was ready for them. Acting on a plan originated by Major General Helmuth von Grolman, the army group’s chief of staff, General of Panzer Troops Hermann Breith’s III Panzer Corps of the 6th Army, spearheaded by the ever-reliable 23rd Panzer Division, struck from the west on October 23 while Woehler attacked from the east with Lieutenant General Kurt Roepke’s XXIX Corps and part of General of Mountain Troops Hans Kreysing’s XVII Corps. The 4th Ukrainian Front tried to break up the impending encirclement by launching heavy counterattacks against Woehler, but without success. Woehler recaptured Nyiregyhaza on October 29 and linked up with Radowitz’s 23rd Panzer, cutting off the Pliev Group. Some of the Russians managed to escape in small groups, but by the time the pocket was cleared, the Russians had lost 25,000 men and 600 tanks.2 The entire operation resembled the “blitzkrieg” operations of old.
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General of Infantry Otto Woehler (1894–1987). After the war, Woehler was convicted of war crimes in connection with Einsatzgruppe actions against Slavs and Jews when he was chief of staff of the 11th Army and was sentenced to eight years imprisonment. He was released in 1951
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Colonel General Johannes Friesnner (1892–1971). Bundesarchiv Bild 183-2007-0313-500; Bundesarchiv Bild 146-1984-018-27A/CC-BY-SA 30





When they recaptured Nyiregyhaza and the surrounding villages, the Germans got an ample opportunity to see how the Soviets were going to behave in occupied Axis territory. Hungarian women of all ages had been raped; afterwards, many had been murdered. Mothers and fathers had been nailed to doorposts and forced to watch as their children were raped, mutilated, and murdered.3 These horrific sights redoubled the determination of German soldiers to prevent the Russians from reaching German territory.


Meanwhile, Hungary’s regent, Admiral Miklos (Nicolas) Horthy, was secretly trying to negotiate an armistice with the Soviet Union. The Hungarian cabinet and parliament, on the other hand, were pro-German, as was at least half the army, with many generals wanting to continue fighting as German allies against the Soviets.


Hitler was in a much better position to foil Hungary’s attempted defection than he had been Romania’s six weeks earlier. The commandant of the Budapest garrison was one of Horthy’s leading military supporters. On October 8, the Gestapo arrested him. On October 15, Hitler’s most famous commando, SS Major Otto Skorzeny, kidnaped Admiral Horthy’s son. (Skorzeny reportedly rolled up the noted playboy—and armistice negotiator—in a carpet and sent him back to Germany.)


That same afternoon, Radio Budapest broadcast Horthy’s declaration of an armistice with the Soviet Union, and the cabinet promptly resigned in protest. The next morning Skorzeny seized the royal palace. Apparently hoping to avoid being captured by Skorzeny, Horthy surrendered to General of the Waffen-SS Karl von Pfeffer-Wildenbruch. As his last official act, Horhty was forced to appoint Ferenc Szalasi, the leader of the Arrow-Cross Party (the Hungarian version of the Nazi Party), as his successor and request “asylum” in Germany.4


According to military historian Earl Ziemke, Szalasi’s chief claim to distinction was “his incoherence both in speech and in writing.” He promptly named himself “Nador” (Fuehrer), with all the powers of the Prince Regent.5
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Admiral Nikolaus Horthy (1868–1957), Regent of Hungary (1920–1944), and Adolf Hitler in happier times, 1938. Horthy refused to wholeheartedly support the German war effort or the Holocaust and secretly tried to negotiate with the Allies. He was overthrown and arrested. He spent the last years of his life in exile in Portugal. His body was not returned to Hungary until 1993
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General of the Waffen-SS Karl von Pfeffer-Wildenbruch, commander of Fortress Budapest, 1944–1945. Ginzery Sandor, Tomor Laszlo, and Dulovits Jeno; Bundesarchiv Bild 101 III-Ege-237-06A





The Wehrmacht’s problems in Hungary remained pressing. Its flat terrain made it well-suited for Soviet mobile operations against German Army Group South, which was badly understrength. The 6th Army, for example, had four panzer and two panzer grenadier divisions (the 1st, 13th, 23rd, and 24th Panzers and 4th SS and Feldherrnhalle Panzer Grenadiers), but, all totaled, these divisions had only sixty-seven tanks and fifty-eight assault guns. In short, Friessner’s armies now held a continuous front, but it was weak, thinly manned, and could not hold long against a determined attack. Friessner also did not have firm contact with Weichs’s Army Group F, since elements of the 2nd Ukrainian Front had already taken advantage of the weak 3rd Hungarian Army, crossed the lower Theiss, and occupied much of the Hungarian Plain between the Theiss and the Danube. Hitler nevertheless commanded Friessner to fight for every foot of soil and refused to allow voluntary withdrawals.


The fall of Horthy and the advent of Szalasi also hurt Hungarian morale, which was already low. Hungarian soldiers began to desert in large numbers; in some places entire units went over to the Russians. Colonel General Janos Voeroes, the Hungarian chief of staff and minister of war, defected (crossing the lines in a Mercedes Heinz Guderian had given him a few weeks before), as did Colonel General Bela Miklos, the commander of the 1st Hungarian Army. Colonel General Lajos Verres, the leader of the Hungarian 2nd Army, was arrested on Friessner’s orders. Of the senior army officers, only General Joseph Heszlenyi, the commander of the 3rd Hungarian Army, remained in office.6


On the afternoon of October 29, Malinovsky attacked the Hungarian 3rd Army again. The German elements of this army, under the command of Kirchner’s LVII Panzer Corps, held their positions, but the Hungarians scattered almost immediately. The Russians captured Kecskemet on the 31st and were halted only a few miles from the suburbs of Budapest. Meanwhile, German defenders were reinforced by the 8th SS and 22nd SS Cavalry Divisions. Elements of the 8th SS and the Feldherrnhalle Panzer Grenadier Divisions counterattacked and recaptured the town of Vecses, just southeast of the city. The Soviets, mindful of the disaster they had recently suffered at Debrecen, withdrew to the southeast.


During the first week of November, Timoshenko regrouped his forces and prepared for an offensive on a much broader front. On his left, Fedor Tolbukhin’s 3rd Ukrainian Front, which had captured the Yugoslav capital on October 19, entered Hungary from the south with three armies and an independent tank corps. East and northeast of the Hungarian capital lay Malinovsky’s 2nd Ukrainian Front with six armies. The Axis forces available to meet this threat included the 2nd Panzer Army (of OB Southeast) and Army Group South, which deployed the remnants of the 2nd Hungarian Army, Armeegruppe Fretter-Pico (German 6th Army plus a few Hungarian units) and Armeegruppe Woehler (German 8th and 1st Hungarian Armies).


The Soviet offensive started on November 7, when the 3rd Ukrainian Front attempted to cross to the west bank of the Danube near Mohacs, Batina, and Apatin. Most of this area was flooded and easily defended. For two weeks, the 2nd Panzer Army foiled Tolbukhin’s advance until he finally broke through on November 22. The Russians, aided by a miners’ revolt, overcame the fierce resistance of SS Major General Gustav Lombard’s 31st SS Volunteer Grenadier Division “Bohemia-Moravia” and took Pecs on November 29. The 31st SS Volunteer Grenadier Division was a mixed German/Volksdeutsch unit (which had been in the process of forming in southern Hungary when Tolbukhin’s offensive struck).7
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